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The Rise and Fall of Repeal: 
Slavery and Irish Nationalism in

Antebellum Philadelphia

DURING THE SUMMER OF 1843, the Irish leader Daniel
O’Connell’s nationalist campaign reached a fever pitch in his
homeland. Pressing for the Repeal of the Act of Union, which

incorporated Ireland into Great Britain, O’Connell and his supporters
staged enormous rallies, which the London Times derided as “monster
meetings.” In the beginning of 1843 O’Connell had solemnly assured his
followers that this would be the “Repeal Year,” and after one million
supporters cheered him on at a rally in August, it seemed that Ireland
might very well have its own parliament before long.1

In the United States, however, the Repeal movement was in turmoil.
While branches of the Loyal National Repeal Association had been
established throughout the country in 1840–41 and thousands of dollars
had been sent over to O’Connell’s headquarters in Dublin, by 1843 many
Irish American Repealers had grown disenchanted with O’Connell
because of his repeated attacks on American slavery. An ardent abolitionist,
O’Connell had time and again drawn parallels between the oppressive
conditions endured by Irish farm laborers and American slaves. These
statements placed most Irish Americans in an awkward position. They
were generally affiliated with the Democratic Party, which was proimmi-
grant but also proslavery and antagonistic to free African Americans. Few
Irish Americans wanted to disturb their alliance with the Democrats and
fewer still wanted to heed O’Connell’s call to unite with the abolitionists,
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who were viewed as fanatics by most Americans.2

In some southern cities, Repealers were so enraged by O’Connell’s
speeches that they disbanded their organizations. In northern cities,
Repealers soldiered on with the cause, either ignoring O’Connell’s state-
ments on slavery or publicly disavowing them. Only in Philadelphia, a
stronghold of Repeal, did Repealers make any effort to defend
O’Connell’s pronouncements on slavery. Philadelphia had a large, reli-
giously mixed Irish community and its leaders held a range of views on
political questions.3 Consequently, when O’Connell intensified his
attacks on American slavery in 1843, the Philadelphia Repeal Association
split into two factions. One group, led by Judge Joseph Doran, backed
O’Connell on slavery, while the other organization, led by William
Stokes, a lawyer and Democratic politician, and Robert Tyler, the slave-
holding son of the president, sought to distance itself from O’Connell’s
abolitionism.4 O’Connell was pleased to hear of the Philadelphia split: at
last some Irish Americans were endorsing his views on slavery. However,
the support would prove short-lived, as Irish Catholics in Philadelphia
soon found themselves under fierce attack from nativists in the “Bible
Riots.” In the wake of the riots, the city’s Irish community turned away
from O’Connell and Repeal and focused on its own preservation.

O’Connell’s Campaigns

O’Connell’s career was at its peak in the early 1840s. He had gained
immense popularity throughout Ireland in the 1820s as a result of his tire-
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less campaigning for Catholic Emancipation.5 In 1829 his long struggle
had come to an end when Great Britain’s prime minister, the Duke of
Wellington, grudgingly allowed Catholics to sit in the British parliament.
O’Connell immediately took advantage of the legislation and became a
leading figure in the House of Commons.

As his Catholic Emancipation campaign gathered momentum in the
late 1820s, O’Connell counted on support from America, just as he would
later with Repeal. Sympathizers formed Friends of Ireland societies in
twenty-four cities throughout the country and raised nearly ten thousand
dollars for the cause.6 After New York City, Philadelphia had the largest
and most active Friends of Ireland chapter. A leading figure in the
Philadelphia society was Joseph Doran, a young lawyer who was interested
in bringing all the chapters together in a national convention.7 Doran
believed that such a show of force would “strike terror into the hearts . . .
[of those] opposed to Emancipation.”8 Doran’s idea never came to
fruition because Catholic Emancipation was granted soon after he made
his proposal. One by one the chapters dissolved in 1829.

Before dissolving themselves, the New York and Philadelphia chapters
each staged grand banquets. In New York, the mayor and several con-
gressmen attended a St. Patrick’s Day dinner. The keynote speaker,
William MacNeven, a distinguished doctor and revered veteran of the
1798 United Irishmen Rising, followed O’Connell’s practice and linked
the struggle of Irish Catholics with that of African slaves and all other
oppressed peoples.9 In Philadelphia, 350 Friends of Ireland attended a
dinner celebrating O’Connell’s victory. The mayor showed his support by
ordering the Liberty Bell rung on the day the legislation was enacted.
Catholics arranged for a Mass of Thanksgiving to be offered in St.
Augustine’s Church. The celebrant was Father John Hughes, a recently
ordained Irish immigrant. Preaching to a large crowd, Hughes dedicated
his sermon to O’Connell and then he too proceeded to compare the hard-
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ships suffered by Irish Catholics with those experienced by African
slaves.10

Neither MacNeven’s speech nor Hughes’s sermon appears to have
sparked any controversy. For decades, prominent Irish Americans had
been expressing opposition to slavery in one manner or another. George
Bryan, a Presbyterian immigrant from Dublin, helped frame
Pennsylvania’s 1780 Gradual Abolition Act. Thomas Emmet, a New York
attorney and former secretary of the United Irishmen, devoted much of
his legal practice to defending escaped slaves. Charles Carroll, who signed
the Declaration of Independence, and Philadelphia publisher Mathew
Carey were both active in the American Colonization Society, which
sought to send free African Americans and newly manumitted slaves to
colonies in western Africa.11 John Carroll, America’s first Catholic bishop
and cousin of Charles Carroll, freed his slaves before his death in 1815.12

Furthermore, ordinary Irish Americans appear to have been well disposed
to free blacks. In northern cities, Irish Americans often lived side by side
with African Americans with little difficulty into the 1830s.13 By the
1840s, however, America’s political landscape had changed dramatically
and Irish American views on race and slavery had shifted along with
those of the rest of the country.

“Unconstitutional and Wicked” Tactics

Several developments during the 1830s exacerbated racial tensions and
contributed to a polarization of the nation on the issue of slavery. First,
some opponents of slavery who were dissatisfied with the colonizationists’
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approach began to agitate for the immediate abolition of slavery. In 1831,
William Lloyd Garrison established an influential abolitionist newspaper,
the Liberator, and two years later, in Philadelphia, he helped to form the
American Anti-Slavery Society (AAS), a national organization that
called for immediate abolition.14 Philadelphia was a logical site for the
AAS’s inaugural meeting because of its large free black population and its
sizable Quaker community. While the abolitionists got along well with
each other, they were met with insults on the streets of Philadelphia
because of the interracial nature of their gathering.15

In 1835, the AAS tried to press its case through the mail by sending
hundreds of thousands of antislavery pamphlets from New York City into
the slave states. For proslavery white southerners, who were still reeling
from Nat Turner’s bloody slave insurrection of 1831, the mailings were an
incendiary act. As soon as the mailbags arrived in Charleston, South
Carolina, a mob stoned the post office and burned them all. Some
Philadelphians responded angrily, too, dumping boxes of tracts into the
Delaware River as Mayor John Swift watched approvingly. For recourse,
abolitionists dared not turn to Andrew Jackson’s Democratic administration.
Jackson endorsed the postmaster general’s efforts to block distribution of
the tracts and told Congress that he considered the publications “uncon-
stitutional and wicked.”16 The following year the Democratic Party
officially backed slavery in its national platform.17 In 1838 Democrats in
Pennsylvania succeeded in disenfranchising free black men. By 1840, only
five of the twenty-six states allowed black men to vote.18

Worse still for the abolitionists, some proslavery northerners responded
violently to their activism. In 1834 serious riots occurred in New York
City over several days; smaller outbreaks occurred in New Jersey,
Connecticut, and New Hampshire.19 In 1835 Garrison barely escaped a
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mob of wealthy Bostonians.20 Three years later, in Philadelphia, an
enraged mob, which was at least partially Irish, burned Pennsylvania Hall
to the ground.21 This grand five-story building, which had been completed
just weeks earlier as an abolitionist meeting place, was set ablaze following
a meeting of black and white abolitionists that sparked fears of “amalga-
mation.”22

Nor was this the end of the trouble in Philadelphia. The city’s Catholic
bishop, Francis Patrick Kenrick, described the aftershocks of the
Pennsylvania Hall attack for an Irish confrere in Rome:

A Negro man escaped from the lunatic asylum a few days since and mur-
dered a watchman; and on Saturday night, one or two negroes deliberately
murdered an Irishman, whom they accused of having assisted in arresting
the lunatic. Last night there were serious indications of a riot to avenge
this death, and we are still in dread that some dreadful act of vengeance
will fall on the unhappy people of color.23

Thus by the 1840s, slavery had become an extremely contentious issue
and racial tensions had intensified. Irish Americans, for their part, gener-
ally sided against both abolitionists and free African Americans.
O’Connell was deeply troubled by this shift in America. Motivated by
humanitarian principles and by his religious beliefs, O’Connell had been
an abolitionist since 1824 and did not want to compromise on this issue.24

As a member of Parliament, he had played a key role in emancipating the
slaves of the British West Indies in 1833 and he was determined that
America would follow Britain’s example.25 In February 1838 five Irish
Americans from Philadelphia wrote to O’Connell imploring him to
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temper his attacks on American slavery.26 O’Connell sent them back a
sharp rejoinder. In August he was the keynote speaker at an English rally
celebrating the end of slavery in the West Indies. During his speech
he dismissed George Washington as a slaveholding hypocrite and then
launched into an attack on Andrew Stevenson, a Virginia slaveholder
who was then serving as ambassador to the Court of St. James.
Denouncing Stevenson as a “slave breeder,” O’Connell wondered why
“America would send here a man who trafficks in blood.”27 Stevenson was
so outraged that he considered challenging O’Connell to a duel.
American abolitionists, meanwhile, were thrilled by O’Connell’s bold-
ness. Elizur Wright of the AAS commended O’Connell for the “rebuke
you have dealt to American Slavery in the matter of Mr. Stevenson.” He
then assured O’Connell that he “could do great service to the slave” by
sending an “address to the Irish portion of our population, giving plainly
your views on slavery. They will listen to you.”28

Launching Repeal

After ten years of being near the center of British politics and five
years into an alliance with Lord Melbourne and the Whigs, O’Connell
decided to make a serious bid for Repeal.29 He was under increasing pres-
sure from Irish nationalists who did not approve of his close cooperation
with Melbourne. In the summer of 1840, O’Connell established the
Loyal National Repeal Association, though at first he had little time to
devote to it. In June he took a leading part in the World Anti-Slavery
Convention, which was being held in London. In his speeches he took
aim once again at American slavery, to the delight of William Lloyd
Garrison, Wendell Phillips, Lucretia Mott, and the other delegates.30
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Perhaps because he was one of the few Catholics at the meeting,
O’Connell also made a point of hailing Pope Gregory XVI’s recent letter
condemning the slave trade.31

O’Connell still had business to attend to in Parliament as well. In
August he and his Irish supporters backed the Whigs’ Municipal Reform
Act, which broke the Protestants’ stranglehold on Irish city govern-
ments.32 With this measure enacted, O’Connell was prepared to focus on
Repeal. In August he held a Repeal meeting in Tuam in western Ireland
that drew ten thousand supporters, but subsequent meetings in south-
western towns attracted smaller crowds.33 Throughout the fall of 1840
and spring of 1841 Repealers held weekly meetings in Dublin. O’Connell
was usually in London, however, trying to bolster the Melbourne govern-
ment. In his stead, his son John often presided. A dedicated abolitionist,
the younger O’Connell devoted a portion of each meeting to a denunci-
ation of the evils of American slavery.34

In America the movement initially had more dynamism. In October
1840 several tradesmen and laborers in Boston formed the first American
Repeal chapter under the leadership of John James, a Yankee Protestant
and Democrat who had backed Catholic Emancipation in the 1820s.35 In
December Joseph Doran and several other professional men organized
the Philadelphia Repealers. Doran had remained active in Irish circles in
the 1830s and had gained prominence in the Irish community after his
election as an associate justice of the Court of General Sessions in March
1840.36 A few days after the Philadelphia Repealers organized, a group of
New Yorkers met at Democratic Party offices at Tammany Hall and
established a Repeal organization under the leadership of Thomas
Emmet’s son, Robert. For the Democrats, Repeal was an attractive issue
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because it fit in well with their generally anglophobic foreign policy and
enabled them to strengthen their ties with Irish American voters.

In the spring of 1841 the first American contributions arrived at
Repeal headquarters in Dublin. On St. Patrick’s Day, Doran sent a check
to O’Connell for two hundred pounds along with a list of the names of
nine hundred Philadelphians who had contributed to the Repeal cause.37

Repeal Association banner. The text reads, “He who commits a crime strength-
ens the enemy of his country.” Lithograph by P. V. Duval, Philadelphia. Prints &
Photographs Division, Library of Congress [LC-USZ62-67889].
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A week later, James sent in one hundred pounds from Boston.38

Meanwhile, Repealers were establishing new associations in cities large
and small: Baltimore; Cincinnati; Rochester, New York; and Pottsville,
Pennsylvania.39

The New York City chapter had difficulties right from the start
because its president, Emmet, resigned in anger after hearing that
O’Connell had denounced the United Irishmen for having resorted to
violence.40 Consequently, the Philadelphia Repeal Association (PRA)
became the dominant organization in the country. Boasting over two
thousand members, the PRA had meetings every week. In June Doran
returned to an idea of his from the Catholic Emancipation campaign: he
wrote to the New York chapter to suggest that a national Repeal conven-
tion be held in Philadelphia.41

On July 4, the PRA staged a grand parade through the streets of
Philadelphia. Judge Doran led the procession and was followed by two
thousand marchers, including a company of uniformed militiamen, the
Hibernia Greens, and members of several Catholic temperance societies.
The marchers held aloft a green banner with an image of Lady Liberty
giving a liberty cap to Hibernia. The climax of the day was a lecture by
the Reverend Dr. Patrick Moriarity. An Irish-born Augustinian friar,
Moriarity was active in both the temperance and Repeal movements and
was well-known for his oratorical skills.42

Meanwhile, in Ireland, O’Connell spent the summer of 1841 preparing
for a general election. He campaigned tirelessly for Repealers and Whigs,
but the Tories won resoundingly nonetheless. In August, Sir Robert Peel,
a long-standing enemy of O’Connell’s, took office as prime minister.43

With no hope of achieving any further reforms in Parliament, O’Connell
turned his sights back homeward. As a result of the Municipal Reform
Act, he was able to gain election as lord mayor of Dublin, the first
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Catholic to hold the position in more than a century.44

During his one year in office, O’Connell took his responsibilities
seriously and tried to administer Dublin in an efficient and nonpartisan
manner. As a full-time resident of Dublin, he was able to attend most of
the regular Repeal meetings. At those sessions he gave vent to his anger
at Peel and the Tories, but spent much time as well celebrating the vibrancy
of the Repeal movement in America. In October he reported that the
Philadelphia Repealers had 3,223 members in their chapter and that the
Baltimore society had enlisted 550. He noted as well that meetings had
been held in Newark, New Jersey; Troy, New York; Brooklyn; Boston; and
Washington, DC. At the end of October, £390 was received from several
American branches.45 O’Connell was thrilled by this financial support,
especially since “the part of America from which they received the largest
was unstained with any species of slavery.”46

“Cling by the Abolitionists”

In the summer of 1841 two Dublin abolitionists, James Haughton and
R. D. Webb, took it upon themselves to send an address on slavery to the
Irish in America. Haughton and Webb urged the Irish emigrants “to treat
the colored people as your equals, as brethren. By all your memories of
Ireland, continue to love liberty—hate slavery—CLING BY THE ABO-
LITIONISTS—and in America, you will do honor to the name of
Ireland.”47 O’Connell, who had been too busy campaigning for office to
draft a letter of his own, was happy to sign it. The other famous signer
was Father Theobald Mathew, who was then leading a phenomenally
successful temperance campaign.48 Better yet for Haughton and Webb,
O’Connell directed his nationwide network of Repeal Wardens to obtain
as many signatures as possible for the address.49 Thanks largely to their
efforts, by December 1841, sixty thousand Irishmen had signed on. The
letter was carried to America by Charles Lenox Remond, a free black

44 MacDonagh, Emancipist, 202–4.
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abolitionist who had been lecturing and fundraising in Ireland for
months. When Remond arrived in Boston, he presented it to his friend
and mentor, William Lloyd Garrison, who was confident that it would
help break the Irish immigrants’ alliance with southern slaveholders and
northern Democrats. To publicize the address, Garrison held a meeting
in Faneuil Hall, which drew five thousand people, fifteen hundred of
whom were Irish immigrants. Before reading the address, Garrison
endorsed Repeal and praised O’Connell for his struggle against English
“oppression and misrule.” Wendell Phillips, a Boston native who had been
living in Italy, then proceeded to praise Pope Gregory XVI and other
leading Catholics in Rome for their openness to people of all races.50

Garrison was confident that he and Phillips and the other speakers—
Remond and Frederick Douglass—had connected with their Irish listeners.
During the following week, Phillips and two other abolitionists decided
to attend a regular meeting of the Boston Repeal Association to further
promote the Irish Address. When they tried to link Repeal to the anti-
slavery movement, however, they received no encouragement whatsoever
from the rank and file Repealers.51

For American Repealers, the timing of the Irish Address could not
have been worse. Leaders of Repeal chapters had accepted Doran’s pro-
posal and were about to convene on Washington’s Birthday at
Independence Hall in Philadelphia. When the two hundred delegates
representing twenty-seven societies arrived, they were welcomed not by
Doran but by William Stokes, who had succeeded him as president of the
PRA in January.52 Stokes chaired the meeting until John James was elected
to preside. While the organizers had hoped to establish a national Repeal
association and develop closer ties among the chapters, most of the
delegates were preoccupied with the Irish Address and so the bulk of the
two-day meeting was devoted to it. Isaac Wright, a Democratic activist
from Boston, alluded to Garrison’s recent efforts before offering a resolution
declaring that the American Repealers would not concern themselves
“with the domestic institutions of any section of the Republic.”53 James
Hoban of Washington, DC, was more blunt: “I desire . . . that O’Connell
and all connected may hear, and know, that if they will press abolition,
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[they] will alienate the affections of many of Ireland’s friends in
America.”54 These comments provoked angry responses from several del-
egates who saw them as attacks on O’Connell. After further debate on the
second day, Stokes proposed a resolution similar to Wright’s but couched
it in more diplomatic language. This resolution was approved unani-
mously shortly before the conclusion of the convention.

In the weeks after the convention, the controversy around the Irish
Address intensified. In early March, John Hughes, who had become bishop
of New York in 1839, questioned the authenticity of the address.55

Hughes declared that if it were proved to be genuine, it would be “the
duty of every naturalized Irishman to resist and repudiate the address
with indignation. Not precisely because of the doctrines it contains, but
because of its having emanated from a foreign source. . . . I am no friend
to slavery, but I am still less friendly to any attempt of foreign origin to
abolish it.”56 Hughes’s views on slavery had clearly shifted considerably in
the years since Catholic Emancipation was achieved.57

Hughes had also become much more concerned about being seen as an
American. For two years, he had been lobbying unsuccessfully for state
funds for the Catholic schoolchildren of New York City. Hughes’s pro-
posal had infuriated nativists like Samuel Morse who argued that public
schools simply instructed children in the Bible and basic Christian morality
and did not enter into denominational disputes. Morse and his associates
were angry that a foreign-born Catholic prelate would criticize New
York’s public schools. Having been vilified as an agent of the pope,
Hughes did not want to be seen as an agent of O’Connell as well.58

Many Irish Americans shared Hughes’s concerns about the Irish
Address. Several Irish American newspapers and Repeal associations
followed Hughes’s lead and declared the address a forgery. The editors of
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the Boston Pilot took a different approach. They did not dispute the
authenticity of the document, but rather took aim at the abolitionists
who, they claimed, were trying to provoke slave uprisings and split up the
Union. In May, the Albany Repeal Association and the Louisiana Repeal
Association wrote to O’Connell to warn him that the abolitionists sought
to provoke a civil war.59

Some Irish American newspapers also highlighted the heterodox the-
ological views of Garrison and other prominent abolitionists. They made
much of Garrison’s opposition to any type of clergy and his unwillingness
to treat Sunday as the sabbath. These editors could not understand why a
staunch Catholic like O’Connell would want to associate himself in any
way with the infidels and atheists in the American abolition movement.60

O’Connell, no doubt stunned by the intensity of the Irish American
reaction to the address, toned down his criticisms of American slavery in
the spring and summer of 1842. At a Repeal meeting in May, he distanced
himself from Garrison’s religious beliefs and stressed that Irish Americans
need not associate themselves with any particular group of abolitionists in
order to fight slavery.61 Garrison and his supporters, in turn, were deeply
disappointed by these remarks. Wendell Phillips wrote to R. D. Webb
expressing his fear that O’Connell’s lips had been “clogged with gold” from
Repeal associations in New Orleans and other southern cities.62

In July William Stokes weighed in on the subject with the same sort
of finesse that he had employed at the National Repeal Convention.
Along with a contribution of one hundred pounds from the PRA, he sent
a letter praising O’Connell: “I respect the firmness, consistency, and
humanity of Mr. O’Connell in regard to slavery all the world over, and
would not . . . endeavour to change his views . . . All I desire is, that we
shall not unnecessarily mingle the two questions together to the injury of
both.”63 Stokes’s letter was read in its entirety at a meeting of the Loyal
National Repeal Association in Dublin and was “received with the loudest
demonstrations of approbation.” For the moment at least, it appeared that
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O’Connell was willing to take Stokes’s advice and forgo discussing
American slavery.

The “City of Brotherly Hate”64

In August 1842, just four years after the attack on Pennsylvania Hall,
Philadelphia was again the site of a brutal, racially motivated attack. The
city that had once been home to the federal government and that for
many years had been known as the “Athens of America,” had by this time
lost much of its genteel aura.65 No longer a bustling seaport, Philadelphia
had become an industrial center, filled with textile mills, iron works, and
shipbuilding plants.66 With its population reaching two hundred thou-
sand due to an influx of Irish and German immigrants, runaway slaves,
and rural Pennsylvanians looking for work, Philadelphia was struggling
with both a severe housing shortage and high unemployment. Under
these circumstances, little provocation was needed for violence to occur.
On the morning of August 1, a group of black teetotalers held a parade
to celebrate the anniversary of West Indian emancipation and promote
temperance. Shortly after setting off, they were attacked by a mob of
about one thousand white men and boys who supposedly thought that the
rally was a celebration of the Haitian slave uprisings that had left many
white people dead.67 The attackers broke up the procession and chased
the marchers back into their own neighborhoods.

As the city was without a police force at this time, the African
Americans had no protection against the fury of the white mob. By night-
fall the mayor, John Scott, with the aid of Judges Doran and Barton and
two other attorneys, had been able to restore order.68 By that point, how-
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ever, considerable damage had already been done. While no one was killed,
twelve people had to be hospitalized, a black Presbyterian church was
torched, and several houses were damaged. Fearing for their lives,
hundreds of African Americans fled the city for New Jersey. The violence
continued the next day in an Irish neighborhood on the southwestern edge
of the city. There, gangs armed with shillelaghs and clubs pursued any
black people who came into the area. Again, Mayor Scott, aided this time
by a sheriff ’s posse, had to patrol the streets in order to keep the peace.69

In the wake of the riots, controversy arose over who bore responsibility
for them. The Public Ledger, which was the city’s leading newspaper, did
not blame any particular group. The editors listed the names of the twenty
boys and men who were arrested, along with those who were wounded.
Several had Irish surnames, such as Keeley, Kelly, McCauley, and

A View of the City of Brotherly Love. Lithograph by Henry R. Robinson, c.
1842, depicting the assault on a black parade commemorating West Indian
emancipation and promoting temperance. The image also depicts the burning of
Pennsylvania Hall, which had occurred four years earlier. Historical Society of
Pennsylvania.
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Monahan, but at least as many had English, Scottish, or German names.
There were two Stewarts, two Johnsons, a Smith, a Montgomery, a
Wright, a Keyser, and a Schull.70 Clearly the second day’s rioters were
overwhelmingly Irish. When the sheriff sent his men into the Schuykill
neighborhood, he made each man wear a green ribbon on his lapel.

Joseph Sill, a wealthy Unitarian merchant, had no doubts about who
caused the riots. After describing the course of the first day’s riots in some
detail, he noted in his diary: “All this the work of low Irishmen, who are
more degraded than the blacks themselves.”71 Garrison was of the same
view: “It appears that the assaults on the persons, property and lives of the
colored population were nearly all committed by the Irish residents.”72 The
editors of the Boston Pilot strenuously objected to this charge. While
admitting that some Irishmen were involved, they noted that the serious
violence of August 1 did not occur in an Irish neighborhood.The Irish were
responsible only for the second day’s violence, which involved “one or two
cases of assault and battery, without house or church burning.”To blame the
whole affair on the Irish would be a “gross and villainous slander.”73

When news of the riots reached O’Connell in October, he condemned
them angrily at a Repeal meeting:

Philadelphia has disgraced itself to the blackest extent . . . [W]hen the
people of colour met to celebrate the glorious 1st of August, 1838 . . .
[they] were assailed by truculent and ruffian violence and he blushed to say
that Irishmen took a prominent part. . . . [W]here were the Catholic
priests? Why did they not raise their voice against this iniquitous pro-
ceeding?

O’Connell concluded his speech by noting that he had been “accused of
relaxing his efforts” against slavery. He promised his listeners that “whilst
he had life, his best energies would be directed to blot out the foul stain
from the earth.”74

When Stokes and his associates at the PRA learned of O’Connell’s
statements, they moved swiftly to offer him their version of the events.
The Repealers informed O’Connell that not “one in a hundred” of the
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rioters were Irish. They further assured him that five hundred Irishmen
volunteered during the outbreaks to help the mayor keep the peace.75

And Tyler, Too

With his term as lord mayor ending in November, O’Connell was at
last ready to devote himself fully to the achievement of Repeal. American
Repealers, sensing O’Connell’s seriousness, redoubled their efforts to sup-
port the cause. In several cities elaborate New Year’s Eve balls were held
to ring in what O’Connell promised would be the “Repeal Year.” In
Philadelphia, the Repeal Ball raised five hundred dollars, in Brooklyn the
Emerald Ball raised four hundred dollars, and in Manhattan the Erina
Ball was similarly successful.76

As the chapters became more active, prominent political figures began
to take notice. In February 1843, Robert Tyler, the president’s son,
attended a Repeal meeting in Washington, DC, and delivered an
impromptu speech. In his remarks he offered a scathing assessment of
English rule over Ireland: “Beginning in fraud, conducted in tyranny and
ending in . . . universal misery.” He concluded by reminding his listeners
of the heroism of the 1798 rebels: “Shall the example of an Emmet and
Fitzgerald perish and be forgotten?77 Shall the blood of slaughtered patriots
sink into the unfeeling soil, unwept and unavenged? Never!” The crowd
responded with the “greatest cheering” and news of the speech spread
rapidly.78

At this time Robert Tyler and his wife, Priscilla, were living at the
White House with his father. Robert served as his father’s personal sec-
retary and Priscilla acted as a surrogate first lady after the death of Tyler’s
wife, Letitia, in 1842.79 As he was in such close contact with his father,
Robert presumably had some influence on his views. By June the presi-
dent, a disaffected Whig who was gravitating toward the Democrats,
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would declare himself the “decided friend” of Repeal, noting that on this
“great question” he was “no half-way man.”80

The Washington Repealers were so impressed with Robert Tyler that
they invited him back to be the featured speaker at their St. Patrick’s Day
gala. In other cities, too, such as St. Louis, Newark, Brooklyn, and Jersey
City, Repealers organized parades and rallies in honor of St. Patrick. In
Philadelphia, Stokes was proud to report that one hundred pounds had
been raised at their celebration.81 All of this activity put Thomas Mooney
in an exultant mood. An Irishman traveling across the country promoting
Repeal, Mooney gushed: “There is no language I can use, [that] would
convey an adequate idea of the feeling that is going up in this country in
behalf of Ireland . . . [T]here are meetings gathering in every direction on
her behalf.”82

In March, O’Connell held his first “monster meeting,” a massive out-
door rally in Trim in County Meath. While planning more rallies to
increase the pressure on Peel, he remained keenly interested in events in
America. Taking note of Robert Tyler’s orations, O’Connell asked the
Loyal National Repeal Association to send him a note of thanks. James
Haughton, who was an active Repealer as well as a committed abolitionist,
opposed O’Connell’s motion on the grounds that Tyler was a slaveholder.
After some debate, a letter was sent to Tyler that thanked him for his
support but also cautioned him the Repealers would seek their goals
through “peaceable, unarmed, constitutional” means.83 Clearly, Tyler’s
embrace of the 1798 rebels had troubled O’Connell.

In April, O’Connell continued with his peaceable but menacing cam-
paign. In the middle of the month he appeared before 120,000 supporters in
Limerick and a few days later, 150,000 Repealers cheered him on at
Kells.84 As the rallies got larger, top officials in Dublin warned Peel that
Ireland was descending into anarchy. In May, Peel appeared before the
House of Commons and solemnly declared that he would not hesitate to
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use military force to prevent the dismemberment of the British Empire.
This threat only served to energize the Repealers still more.

Just as the Repeal movement was gathering momentum, it again had
to deal with American slavery. In May, the Loyal National Repeal
Association received a detailed letter from the Pennsylvania Anti-Slavery
Society that set out to refute all the claims put forth in the previous
months by the Boston Pilot and various American Repeal societies.
O’Connell was very enthusiastic and called for a special meeting of the
association to consider the letter. With Haughton in the chair, O’Connell
delivered a long and emotional speech. He first thanked the abolitionists
for describing “the horrors of slavery in their genuine colours.” He then
called on his countrymen to “come out of such a land . . . or if you remain
and dare countenance the system of slavery that is supported there, we
will recognise you as Irishmen no longer. . . . America, the black spot of
slavery rests upon your star-spangled banner . . . and a just Providence will
sooner or later, avenge itself for your crime.” He concluded by remarking
that “we may not get money from America after this declaration, but even
if we should not, we do not want blood-stained money.”85

O’Connell’s prediction proved to be right. His declaration did have a
dramatic impact on American Repealers. The language he had used was
so pointed and accusatory that it simply could not be ignored. Given the
state of communication at that time, however, more than a month would
pass before the Americans would see accounts of O’Connell’s speech. In
the meantime, American Repealers continued to promote the cause ener-
getically.

All across the country, the movement seemed to be catching fire.
Sizable rallies were held in Buffalo, New Orleans, Baltimore, and Mobile.
In St. Louis, Colonel Richard Johnson, who had served as Martin Van
Buren’s vice president, appeared at a Repeal rally along with a Missouri
congressman. Johnson, a blustering Kentucky slaveholder and former
Indian fighter, was then seeking the Democratic presidential nomina-
tion.86 In Boston, Repealers heard the former Transcendentalist philosopher
Orestes Brownson and Robert Tyler on successive weeks. The editor of
the Irish American Truth Teller reported that the “excitement is very
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great” in Philadelphia because the state’s Democratic governor, David
Porter, had presided over a PRA meeting. The governors of Ohio and
Illinois, Wilson Shannon and Thomas Carlin, fellow Democrats, had also
endorsed Repeal.87 No city could match New York’s enthusiasm, however.
In June, Repealers held a series of seven “monster meetings” at
Washington Hall and in City Hall Park. Crowds ranged from twenty to
thirty thousand for each night.88 By the end of June this flurry of activity had
raised almost eleven hundred pounds for the Loyal National Repeal
Association in Dublin.89

Philadelphia Feud

By the end of June news of O’Connell’s fierce antislavery speech had
reached America. In Charleston, the Repeal association declared the
speech a “base and malignant libel upon the people of the South” and
then voted to dissolve.90 In Natchez, Mississippi, the Repealers also
decided to disband.91 When the Savannah Repealers met, they rebuked
O’Connell for “taking his lessons on Southern institutions from Northern
abolitionists,” but they nevertheless vowed to continue working for
Repeal.92

When the PRA met, Stokes established a committee to examine
O’Connell’s speech and prepare a response. He and four other members
drew up a series of resolutions that acknowledged the PRA’s “profound
respect” for O’Connell but also declared that their organization had “no
opinions or feelings in common with the sentiments expressed” in
O’Connell’s recent speech. The resolutions provoked a long and acrimo-
nious debate as several members saw them as unduly critical of
O’Connell. Consequently, the PRA approved a substitute statement that
simply noted that the PRA concerned itself only with Repeal. Stokes left
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the meeting angry that his resolutions had been rejected.93

A couple of days later, the PRA held another meeting to determine
how to proceed. Appearing on behalf of the absent Stokes, Dr. Patrick
Moriarity, the pastor of St. Augustine’s Church, read a letter from him
explaining his decision to resign as president of the PRA. As the PRA
had provided “virtual sanction” to O’Connell’s abolitionism, he could not
in good conscience retain his office. Moriarity then spoke at length in
defense of Stokes and his resolutions. By the time the meeting finally
ended, Moriarity’s oratory had swayed the majority. The Repealers
approved a proposal asking Stokes to return to office and agreed to recon-
sider Stokes’s motions.94

Less than a week later, the PRA held another meeting. With Stokes
serving again as president, the Repealers welcomed Robert Tyler to the
podium. Tyler, noting that he had received a complimentary note from
O’Connell just two months earlier, doubted whether O’Connell had in
fact delivered the speech in May. Rather, this speech was a “firebrand
thrown amongst us” by British abolitionists to spread dissension in the
Repeal movement. These zealots have “no feelings . . . for any body but
the cannibal negro on the shores of Africa.” Tyler concluded with a promise
that no one would succeed in driving him away from Repeal. The audi-
ence responded with great enthusiasm, offering three cheers for Robert
Tyler and three cheers for his father, the president.95

A Philadelphia abolitionist who closely observed these events noted
that not all Repealers supported Stokes, Moriarity, and Tyler: “A
respectable, and perhaps a large minority” resigned from the PRA over
the controversy.96 These dissidents came together later in the month to
establish a rival Repeal organization: the Association of the Friends of
Ireland and Repeal (AFIR). Judge Doran, who had not been active in the
Repeal cause since January 1842, agreed to serve as the group’s presi-
dent.97 At its first meeting, the AFIR drew up a resolution that offered
O’Connell its full support. Along with the resolution and a contribution
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of fifty pounds, Doran enclosed a letter assuring him of the new organi-
zation’s “unshaken confidence.” Doran closed with an implicit endorsement
of O’Connell’s antislavery crusade: “Recognizing you as the deliverer from
bondage of my father’s land and the fearless and consistent champion of
the rights of man throughout the world.”98

While O’Connell was staging ever larger and more triumphal rallies,
he continued to follow closely the activities of American Repealers. In
late August, shortly after having presided over a massive rally at the Hill
of Tara, the ancient and medieval seat of Ireland’s high kings, O’Connell
took note of Doran’s letter. After dismissing Stokes as a “man more in love
with slavery than with Ireland,” he asked that a letter be sent to Doran for
“this highly prized token of sympathy and affectionate regard.”99

At the following week’s Repeal meeting, O’Connell was disheartened
to receive a letter from the Cincinnati Repealers that offered a very
different response to his May speech. Along with a donation of £113, the
Repealers sent a detailed reply. Acknowledging slavery to be “an evil of
the highest magnitude,” they then proceeded to list all the obstacles that
made emancipation of the slaves next to impossible. They put much of
the blame on the abolitionists who were encouraging slaves to flee from
their masters. They concluded by warning O’Connell that to seek an
alliance between the Irish and the Catholic-hating abolitionists was “to
expect an impossibility.”100 O’Connell, outraged by the “trash” put for-
ward by the Cincinnati Repealers, proposed that the Loyal National
Repeal Association send them a thorough answer.101 Before he could get
around to that, however, he had to prepare for another round of “monster
meetings.”

As O’Connell’s campaign intensified in Ireland, Doran set out to
increase support for O’Connell among American Repealers. Having
established the AFIR in July, Doran’s first challenge was the National
Repeal Convention, which was scheduled to occur in September at the
Broadway Tabernacle in New York City. Doran and his associates assem-
bled a slate of thirty-five representatives, which made it one of the largest
delegations at the convention. Stokes and the PRA, however, brought a
contingent of sixty-five. Together the delegates from the two Philadelphia
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associations comprised 25 percent of the convention’s representatives.
From the start of the meeting, it was apparent that Doran had little

support outside of the AFIR. Robert Tyler was elected president of the
body and then the thirteen states represented were each directed to select
a vice president for the meeting. For some reason Pennsylvanians were
allowed to nominate two vice presidents, and so they opted for both
Stokes and Moriarity. Stokes took a leading role over the course of the
three days. On one occasion he remarked that he spoke for six thousand
Philadelphia Repealers. At this point, someone in the audience—
presumably Doran or one of his allies—dissented vehemently, whereupon
“some confusion occurred.”102 Eventually Moriarity got the floor and
defended Stokes, and Stokes was able to continue with his speech.

Aside from occasional sparring among the Philadelphians, this con-
vention went much more smoothly than the first one. All the delegates
scrupulously avoided discussing slavery or any other controversial topic.103

The only substantive matter considered was whether to establish a per-
manent executive committee to coordinate American Repeal efforts.
After some debate, a five-man directory was agreed upon, which included
John James of Boston, John McKeon, a former Democratic congressman
from New York City, and John Binns, a member of the PRA and close
ally of Stokes.104

Showdown at Clontarf

Despite having lost out to the PRA at the convention, Doran and his
associates were determined to remain active and keep O’Connell apprised
about their doings. At an October meeting, O’Connell read a letter from
William Henry Dunne of the AFIR. Dunne explained that his associa-
tion had been willing to accept a contribution from Robert Purvis, who
was the most prominent black abolitionist in Philadelphia. Purvis had
met O’Connell in London and was a long-time supporter of Repeal.105
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Dunne noted that the AFIR’s decision had been unpopular: “Here is our
fault and for it the American people are put on their guard against our
Association.” O’Connell was indignant: “Was it possible . . . that it should
be raised as an accusation against any man in a Repeal association, that he
was black, and that being black, he could not be allowed to subscribe?”106

O’Connell directed that appreciative letters be sent both to Dunne and to
Purvis. Doran followed up Dunne’s letter with a note to O’Connell’s
daughter, Ellen Fitzsimon. Writing on behalf of the female members of
the AFIR, Doran enclosed fifty pounds and asked her to make known to
her father “how large a space the cause of Ireland fills in the affections of
the women of America.”107

On October 8, O’Connell was scheduled to stage the grandest Repeal
rally of the year on the outskirts of Dublin. Set to occur at Clontarf, site
of an Irish victory over the Vikings in the Middle Ages, the Peel admin-
istration banned the rally on the preceding day on the grounds that it was
a military gathering. After consulting with his top aides, O’Connell, ever
the constitutionalist, acquiesced.108

At the Repeal meetings the following week, O’Connell spent much
time castigating Peel, but he also held a special meeting to respond to the
Cincinnati Repealers. He began the session by declaring his “utter amaze-
ment at the perversion of mind and depravity of heart which your letter
evinces.” To the charge that slaves were in a “state of degradation,”
O’Connell responded that their condition would improve if they were
given appropriate educational opportunities. For those Repealers who
thought that abolitionism was too radical, he proposed a series of meas-
ures that they could pursue on their own. They could lobby to give the
franchise to free African Americans; they could work to halt the internal
slave trade among the southern states; and they could press for the aboli-
tion of slavery in the District of Columbia. Finally, for those who had any
doubt about the Catholic Church’s view on the matter, he reminded them
that Pope Gregory XVI “condemned all dealing and traffic in slaves” and
sent them a copy of the pope’s letter.109
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How the Repealers in Cincinnati and elsewhere in America would
have responded to this letter will never be known because just three days
after O’Connell delivered these remarks he was arrested for sedition on
Peel’s orders. This decision to arrest a man who had scrupulously obeyed
all laws sparked outrage throughout Ireland and Irish America.
Consequently, no Repealers were about to challenge O’Connell on any
subject. Indeed, when the Cincinnati Repealers met to consider
O’Connell’s letter, a reporter noted that it “was listened to with profound
attention and respect.” At the end of their meeting they passed a series of
resolutions that were “exceedingly complimentary” to O’Connell.110 The
editors of the Boston Pilot were similarly conciliatory: they endorsed
much of O’Connell’s critique of slavery but felt that he was still too san-
guine about the abolitionists.111

Throughout much of the country the Repeal movement gained new
momentum. At the beginning of December, Colonel Johnson and Robert
Tyler both spoke at a large rally in Washington. Tyler delivered a fiery
speech asking his listeners whether the time to press for a peaceful repeal
of the union had passed.112 In New York, a monster meeting was planned
for Tammany Hall and another Erina Ball was set for New Year’s Eve. In
Philadelphia, both Repeal groups continued to meet regularly—often on
the same night! Southern Repealers, too, were active on behalf of the
cause. In Charleston, Repealers reorganized themselves, and in cities in
Georgia and Virginia they established new chapters.113 In January 1844,
the editor of the Truth Teller exulted that Repeal was “now an unbroken
front from Maine to Louisiana.”114

In February 1844 Stokes tendered his resignation as president of the
PRA. Having led the organization through two tumultuous years, he
stepped down so that he could devote himself more fully to Democratic
Party activities.115 Choosing a successor to Stokes was not a problem at
all because Robert Tyler was moving his family to Philadelphia at this
time. President Tyler had announced his engagement to Julia Gardiner
and would marry her in June. With the wedding approaching, Robert



THE RISE AND FALL OF REPEAL2006 71

116 Seager, And Tyler too, 233.
117 John Tyler to Irish Citizens, Mar. 15, 1844, John Tyler Papers, reel 1, Library of Congress. For

Tyler’s interest in the Democratic nomination, see Schlesinger and Israel, eds., History of American
Presidential Elections, 1:782–84.

118 Moriarity spoke at Repeal meetings in Savannah and Charleston. See Truth Teller, May 25,
1844; U.S. Catholic Miscellany, Apr. 20, 1844.

119 McCaffrey, Daniel O’Connell and the Repeal Year, 206–7; MacDonagh, Emancipist, 233.

decided to vacate the White House and move to Philadelphia to be closer
to his wife’s relatives. In March, Tyler took over as president of the
PRA.116

At the same time, President Tyler, who was then angling for the
Democratic nomination, sent a pro-Repeal letter on St. Patrick’s Day to
an Irish group in Washington.117 In Charleston, Repealers staged a grand
St. Patrick’s Day rally and prepared to welcome Dr. Moriarity, who was
heading south from Philadelphia on a Repeal tour.118 From New York
City Repealers sent off a six hundred–pound contribution in April.

In Ireland, by contrast, the movement was flagging by the beginning
of 1844. O’Connell had solemnly promised the Irish people that 1843
would be the Repeal Year. When the year ended without a parliament in
Dublin some of his followers began to doubt him. O’Connell had also
shaken the confidence of many of his supporters by remarking that he
would be willing to accept a “federalist” compromise, which would offer
Ireland limited autonomy. These factors contributed to a marked decline
in Repeal contributions. By January, Repeal contributions—which had
topped two thousand pounds a week in the summer— fell below three
hundred pounds.119

In January, O’Connell and his son John and six other Repealers stood
trial for seditious conspiracy. In his defense, O’Connell pointed out that
his campaign had been entirely peaceful. No one had been injured at any
of his rallies nor had there been any property damaged. Still, the all-
Protestant jury was not persuaded. Each member of the group was
convicted and given a one-year jail sentence.

“The Most Awful and Bloody Riot”

In May Philadelphia’s Irish Catholics suddenly found themselves facing
a much more pressing issue than Repeal. Nativists, with strong backing
from the city’s Scotch-Irish and English Protestants, had organized the
American Republican Party in 1843. Party members sought to make it
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harder for immigrants to become citizens and ardently backed Bible reading
and other prayer services in the public schools. In 1842, Bishop Kenrick
had asked the city’s school board to allow Catholic children to read from
the Douai-Rheims Bible in lieu of the King James Version favored by
Protestants.120 Rather than request funding for Catholic schools as
Bishop Hughes had done, Kenrick sought to change the public schools’
curriculum so that Catholic children could participate more comfortably.
The board turned down Kenrick’s request, but declared that Catholic
students could be excused from all religious exercises.121

In Kensington, a heavily Irish Catholic and Scotch-Irish suburb, this
compromise proved unworkable. So many children were leaving the class-

Native American Republican Association of Philadelphia membership certificate,
c. 1845. The motto “Beware of Foreign Influence” appears on a streamer above a
bust portrait of George Washington. Prints & Photographs Division, Library of
Congress [LC-USZ62-90660].
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room during the prayer exercises that the teacher felt that she was unable
to maintain order. Consequently, in February 1844, Hugh Clark, the
school district’s Irish Catholic director, ordered the teacher to suspend all
religious services until further notice.122

This was all the nativists needed to hear. Irish Catholics were trying to
ban the Bible from the city’s public schools and they had to be resisted.
After a series of rallies, the American Republicans decided to hold a
meeting right in the heart of Kensington. When they tried to gather,
however, a group of Irish men and boys threw rocks and garbage at them
and drove them out.123 Three days later, a larger group of nativists
returned to Kensington, ready for battle. Over the course of three days,
they set fire to St. Michael’s Church along with two Catholic schools, a
convent, and a number of houses in the neighborhood, including Hugh
Clark’s stately home.124 They also headed for St. Augustine’s Church,
which was located in a fashionable neighborhood in the center of the city.
Mayor Scott tried to protect St. Augustine’s, but the nativists pelted him
with bricks and easily overcame his small band of constables. By the end
of the night, Dr. Moriarity, who was still touring the South, had lost his
church and rectory along with his prized one thousand–volume theolog-
ical library.125 On the third day of the riots, Governor Porter traveled to
Philadelphia and ordered two companies of soldiers to come to the city
from Harrisburg. These troops, along with the local militias, were finally
able to restore order. The violence left sixteen people dead, fifty wounded,
several hundred homeless, and $250,000 worth of property destroyed.126

In the midst of the riots, Kenrick and several priests fled the city and
did not return for a week. While away, Kenrick issued a statement declaring
that “in the Catholic churches, which still remain,” there would be no
public worship services on the following Sunday.127 Kenrick counseled
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of May 6–8 the “most awful and bloody riot that ever occurred in the
United States.”128 Joseph Sill offered a similar judgment. After trying to
help the mayor defend St. Augustine’s Church, Sill described the scene in
his diary: “We returned home from this scene of barbarity about 10½
o’clock . . . sick at heart and weary from anxiety. . . . The smoke of this
church will arise to heaven as a memento of the brutality of an American
mob, and the deed will be remembered by the Irish for years to come.”129

In the aftermath of the rioting, the Irish Catholics and the nativists
blamed each other for the violence.130 In June, a grand jury issued a report
that generally sided with the nativists. The authors claimed that the
nativists had been spurred into action by the Catholics’ efforts to ban the
Bible from the public schools. They further noted that when the
American Republican Party assembled for a meeting to defend Bible
reading in the schools, Irish hecklers broke up the gathering.131

Angered by the grand jury’s findings, Stokes and several other promi-
nent lay Catholics decided to take action. Stokes, who had helped to
defend the churches from attack, was chosen as secretary for the Catholic
committee.132 In its response the committee noted that Kenrick had
merely asked that Catholic students be allowed to read the approved
Catholic edition of the Bible while Protestant children could continue to
read from the King James Version. And as for the hecklers, the committee
asked that the “guilt of a small band of men” not be visited on the whole
Catholic community.133

While this measured statement was approved at a general meeting of
Philadelphia Catholics, it did nothing to assuage the nativists.134 On July
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4, five thousand nativists led by relatives of the “martyrs” who had died in
May proudly marched through the city with banners aloft. Fearing another
attack, members of St. Philip Neri parish in the heavily nativist
Southwark neighborhood asked Governor Porter for weapons to defend
the church. The governor allowed them to have twenty muskets from the
city arsenal. When nativists saw that weapons were being brought into
the church, rumors spread among them that Catholics were setting up a
fortress in their midst.

On July 5, an angry mob led by former Whig congressman Charles
Naylor surrounded the church. This time the authorities responded more
aggressively. Several militia companies—one led by AFIR member
William Henry Dunne—prepared to defend the building. While the
attackers commandeered cannons, the five thousand militiamen were able
to overpower them. After three days of fighting, fourteen men—mostly
nativists—were dead. St. Philip’s, although damaged, was still standing.135

“All is Idle with Repeal Now”

In September O’Connell received welcome news from an unlikely
quarter. The House of Lords overturned the Repealers’ convictions and
ordered them released immediately. After having served only three
months, O’Connell was again free to lead the Repeal movement, and the
Irish people were ready to follow him. As his carriage left Dublin’s
Richmond prison, O’Connell was surrounded by thousands of well wishers.

Two days later, O’Connell appeared at a Repeal meeting and delivered
a meandering address that made no reference to any new Repeal rallies.
A couple of weeks later he headed back to his estate in County Kerry for
an extended holiday. In October, he sent a letter from his home indicating
that he was willing to accept a federalist solution. These conciliatory ges-
tures left many Repealers baffled and discouraged. Before long,
O’Connell’s chance to revive Repeal had come and gone.136

In America the movement was even weaker. While New York
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Repealers held a large rally at Tammany Hall in October to celebrate
O’Connell’s release, the Philadelphia Repealers appear to have stopped
meeting.137 There is no record of Judge Doran and the AFIR gathering
after the nativist riot in May. Although the PRA continued to exist and
Tyler remained its president through 1846, it too became dormant after
the riots.138 In November the editor of the Truth Teller lamented, “All is
idle with Repeal now except for Boston and New York City.”139

The nativist riots had a dramatic influence not only on the
Philadelphia Irish but also on Irish America generally, and Ireland too.140

Father Mathew, who had planned on visiting Philadelphia and the rest of
the country in the summer of 1844, postponed his trip when he heard the
news. Writing to an American temperance leader, Mathew expressed his
shock and disappointment: “I have been long and anxiously looking for-
ward to . . . my sojourn in the states. Recent calamitous occurrences in
Philadelphia have blighted all my hopes. . . . Since I heard the fearful
details . . . I can speak or write or think of nothing but churches in flames
and streets flowing with blood.”141

Clearly, what doomed Doran’s society—the only antislavery Repeal
association in the country—was not the machinations of proslavery
Democrats like Stokes and Tyler and Moriarity, but the trauma of these
back-to-back nativist assaults. In the wake of such fierce attacks, no Irish
Americans were interested in lobbying for any other oppressed group. For
the next two decades, they would largely turn away from Irish affairs as
well and focus on securing their position in America. For support they
associated themselves even more closely with their Democratic allies. In
the 1844 presidential race, the Democrats passed over Van Buren,
Johnson, and Tyler and settled instead on James K. Polk, a little-known
Tennessee slaveholder, and George Dallas, the former mayor of
Philadelphia, to head their slate. The Democrats put forth an anglophobic
foreign policy: they backed the annexation of Texas, which the British
government opposed, and pressed for British concessions on the Oregon
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boundary.142 The Whigs selected the Kentucky senator and slaveholder
Henry Clay, who had run unsuccessfully in 1824 and 1832. For vice pres-
ident they chose Theodore Frelinghuysen, a former senator from New
Jersey with strong nativist ties.143 By placing Frelinghuysen on the ticket,
the Whigs made it clear that they were much more interested in gaining
the votes of the American Republicans than those of the Irish Catholics.

In November the Irish voted as a bloc for Polk and gave him the edge
over Clay in Pennsylvania and New York, which in turn allowed him to
win nationwide.144 A New York Whig informed Clay, “The foreign vote
destroyed your election.”145 Another lamented, “Ireland has re-conquered
the country England lost.”146 Indeed, by 1844 Irish Americans had found
a safe home in the Democratic Party and had become one of the
Democrats’ most reliable constituencies.

While O’Connell continued to hold Repeal meetings, the movement
never regained the influence it had in 1843. By 1845, O’Connell was ailing
and trying to grapple with both the Famine and with dissent in his own
ranks from militant Young Irelanders who wanted the movement to focus
on Irish freedom to the exclusion of all other issues.147 Despite these chal-
lenges, O’Connell continued to speak out against slavery until his death
in 1847, but no Irish Americans raised their voices with his at that time
or in the years following.148 It would not be until 1863 that a prominent
Irish American would dare challenge the pact between Irish Catholics
and the Democrats. In that year, in the midst of the Civil War and in the
wake of President Lincoln’s Emancipation Proclamation, Archbishop
John Purcell of Cincinnati declared that he was voting Republican
because of slavery, which was “an unchristian evil, opposed to the freedom
of mankind.” At the same time, to remind his followers that he was not
the first Irish Catholic to make this claim, Purcell had O’Connell’s 1843
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letter to the Cincinnati Repealers republished in his archdiocesan news-
paper. While some Irish Americans approved of Purcell’s efforts, more
were annoyed that he was lending his support to an “anti-Catholic”
movement.149 O’Connell’s forceful statements on slavery thus proved as
troublesome for Irish Americans in 1863 as they had a generation before
during the “Repeal Year” of 1843.
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